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... Singapore . . . if attacked — which is unlikely — ought
to stand a long siege.

— Churchill to the Prime Ministers of Australia and
and New Zealand, August 11, 1930

We are ready. We have had plenty of warning and our prep-
arations are made and tested.

— “Order of the Day " issued by Air Chief Marshal

Sir Robert Brooke-Popham, Commander-in-Chief,
Far East, on December 8, 1941

This Japancse attack is just a flash in the pan. They won't
cause us serious trouble.

— A British divisional commander, Cairo,
¢. December 10, 1941

It shouldn't have happened.

— General Sir Archibald Wavell, February 10, 1942

.. we were frankly out-generalled, outwitted and outfought.

— Lieutenant General Sir Henry Pownall,
February 13, 1942

- the fall of Singapore . .. was. .. the worst disaster and
largest capitulation of British history.

— Churchill, 1950

Singapore was hopeless from the beginning of the campaign,

— Lieutenant General Sir lan Jacob, 1971
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PREFACE

Singapore fell on February 15, 1942. To Winston Churchill the
surrender of the great naval base, and 85,000 British and imperial
oops, was the greatest disaster in British military history. Later
writers have seen it as a condemnation of interwar British defense
policy, or of wartime strategic direction, or of both. In a larger
perspective it was clearly the event that destroyed the prestige on
which British rule in the East had rested. To Asian historians it
will doubtless assume great symbolic importance: the moment
when the curtain began to come down on the era of European
dominance. The passage of time has gradually made available to
historians most of the surviving documents on the strategic policy
that led to the fall of Singapore, as well as on the event itself, A
few remain unavailable, but for personal rather than policy reasons
in most cases, since, as this writer was forcefully reminded many
times, the fall of Singapore is still a very sore subject. That is
doubtless the reason why studies of it are so few, compared with
the care that has been lavished on chronicling the ultimately
successful desert battles against Rommel. It is not the purpose of
this book to reopen old wounds or condemn the guilty, of whom
in any case there were fewer than is popularly supposed, but
rather to analyze how and why such a disaster happencd. For that
reason there is little tactical detail, an omission compensated for
by the many excellent accounts of that sort which are readily
available. The focus here is on the high-level decisions, most of
them taken well before December 8, 1941, that made the war in
Malaya “hopeless from the beginning,” in the words of a former
member of Churchill's staff. Not villains, but inescapable dilemmas
prepared the way for this most spectacular of British military
disasters. One of the most remarkable aspects of the story is the
unanimity with which, in retrospect, everyone agrees on the
9



10 THE WORST DISASTER

inevitability of the catastrophe. Yet, as in a nightmare, the British
were powerless to escape. Their Victorian and Edwardian prede-
cessors had handed on to them a position in the East that they
could no longer defend, yet could not abandon. They could only
hope — hope that Japan would not attack, that America would
prevent the worst consequences if it did. These hopes were disap-
pointed: the consequent losses, irreversible. Perhaps the obsession
with the desert campaign is not so surprising after all.
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1
SINGAPORE:
February 13-15, 1942

On the afternoon of Friday, February 13, 1942, exhausted British,
Indian, Australian, and Malay troops stood in their last-ditch posi-
tions on the outskirts of the city of Singapore, waiting for the fi-
nal Japanese thrust that would inevitably break through into the
thirty square miles, crammed with over a million people, that was
all that remained of the British empire in the Far East. The city’s
water supplies were failing; food distribution and civil defense
alike were collapsing. The city, burning and disintegrating, was full
of stragglers, deserters, and looters in numbers that defied military
police control. The great naval base on the north shore of Singa-
pore Island, whose defense had brought together over 100,000 Bri-
tish and Imperial troops, was already in Japanese hands. The vast
stores of fuel, accumulated for a fleet that had never come, were
on fire, and the clouds of oily smoke that drifted over the island
provided an appropriately funereal backdrop for a conference of
senior officers that was scheduled for two o’clock at Fort Canning,
the headquarters of the now so-much-diminished Malaya Com-
mand, located in the center of the beleaguered city. Presiding was
the commander of the doomed garrison, Lieutenant General
Arthur Percival, who bore the resounding title General Officer
Cs ding, Malaya C d. His authority now extended a
maximum of four and a half miles from the Singapore waterfront.
Although a soldicr of proven valor during the First World War and
its aftermath, when he had served in Ireland and North Russia,
Percival had spent most of the previous decade in a series of staff
positions. A tall, rather scholarly-looking man, he was now ex-
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16 THE WORST DISASTER

hausted by the strain of the previous ten weeks and bowed under
the knowledge that upon him would rest the responsibility for the
greatest surrender in British military history. His principal subordi-
nates were all present. Licutenant General Sir Lewis Heath was a
soldier of a very different type from Percival. An officer of the In-
dian Army, the legend-encrusted guardians of the Raj, Heath had
seen active service on India’s Northwest Frontier and had recently
been knighted for his dynamic leadership of the Fifth Indian Divi-
sion during the campaign that ended Italy’s East African empire.
He had commanded Percival's chief operational formation, 111
Corps, during the long retreat that had begun on the Thai border
and was now coming to an end in the suburbs of Singapore. Like
his Indian troops, he had reached the limit of his endurance.
Licutenant General H. Gordon Bennett commanded the Eighth
Australian Division, but his importance at this conference stem-
med less from his place in the chain of command than from his
role as the commander of an Allied force with the power to refer
to his government in any case of serious disagreement with Perci-
val. He represented as well a nation more directly threatened by
the apparently irresistible Japanese advance than Britain. All
this, and his outspoken criticism of British military leadership
and Indian troops (plus the Australian uniforms on many of the
deserters and looters roaming Singapore’s streets, described by
one witness as “an undisciplined rabble, ready to run and desert
at the sound of a distant rifle”), gave Gordon Bennett a rather
different position at any conference with Percival than his single
understrength division might otherwise have warranted. Two other
divisional commanders were also present: an Indian Army officer,
Major General B. W. Key, whose Eleventh Indian Division was a
survivor of the long retreat (it had been virtually destroyed once,
and Key was its third commander since December 8), and Major
General M. B. Beckwith-Smith, a Guardsman and veteran of Dun-
kirk, whose Eighteenth Division of luckless East Anglian Terri-
torials had only just arrived at Singapore. Major General F. Keith
Simmons, the British regular who was commander of the very mis-
leadingly named “‘Singapore Fortress” (which comprised the fixed
defenses, now mostly abandoned and destroyed, of the lost naval
base), and two brigadiers completed the assembly.

In a yellowing excrcise book now preserved among his papers,
Percival recorded in his clear staff officer’s longhand the course of
the ensuing discussion. Heath, who had asked for the meeting, put
the seriousness of the situation bluntly. “The Japanese had driven
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us back for 500 miles down the Peninsula and he did not see how
we could hope to stop them now that they had arrived within
three miles of the center of Singapore City .. . he did not see any
use in continuing the struggle.” Gordon Bennett agreed with
Heath. Percival argued that they were under orders to fight on,
and added that he hoped to organize a counterattack. Heath
snapped back, “You have already tried one counterattack and it
was a complete failure.” Gordon Bennett and Keith Simmons
agreed that counterattack was out of the question; Heath urged
immediate surrender; Percival still resisted the inevitable, “There
are other things to consider. I have my honour to consider and
there is the question of what posterity will think of us if we sur-
render this huge army and valuable fortress.” Defeat and exhaus-
tion, and a personal antagonism rooted in the longstanding pro-
fessional antipathy of British service officers and Indian Army of-
ficers. fused into a sudden flare of bitter anger. His patience now
completely gone, Heath snarled back, “You need not bother about
your honour. You lost that a long time ago up in the North.” Per-
cival merely reiterated his determination to fight on. The confer-
ence then turned, perhaps thankfully, to the task of allotting va-
cancies on the thirteen small ships that would sail that night —
the convoy that everyone knew would be the last chance to es-
cape. At three fifteen the meeting came to an end. A young RAF
radar officer, trying to find someone to authorize the evacuation
of his invaluable technicians, saw Percival later that evening. The
GOC seemed to him a “*broken man.” That night mobs of armed
and drunken deserters tried to rush the last ships, nearly all of
which were destined to be destroyed in the next few days by
Japanese ships and planes.

Saturday, the last full day of resistance, was unrelievedly
grim. The Japanese overran the Alexandra Military Hospital,
slaughtering most of the patients and staff. Teams of govern-
ment employees and Royal Engincers, aided by civilian volun-
teers, combed the city, destroying all stocks of alcohol (1,500,
000 bottles of gin and whiskey alone) to prevent a drunken
orgy of massacre by the victorious Japanese. Senior civil ser-
vants began to destroy confidential files. At ten thirty in the
morning Percival, looking spruce and starched despite his terri-
ble burdens, met the governor, Sir Shenton Thomas, and the
Colonial Secretary, Mr. Hugh Fraser, at the Singapore Club, to
which the governor had been driven by the bombing and shell-
ing of Government House. The water supplies were failing, Per-
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cival told them. The pumping station was in Japanese hands, and,
although it continued to operate, there were so many breaks in
the mains that much of the water was running to waste and press-
ure was falling rapidly. Sir Shenton Thomas “said he could not
face the prospect of Singapore with its large Asiatic population
being left without water. He feared it would lead to riots of the
worst order and very possibly to attacks on the European popula-
tion. . . . . In this situation he advocated immediate surrender.”
Percival refused to agree but then, revealingly, joined in a discus-
sion of surrender procedure.

Sunday morning the end came. Percival assembled his principal
commanders at nine thirty at his headquarters and informed them
of the parlous water-and-food situation, which they knew all too
well. He then asked for their advice. Heath promptly gave some:
“In my opinion there is only one possible course to adopt and that
is to do what you ought to have done two days ago, namely to
surrender immediately.” Percival made a ritual bow toward his or-
ders to resist to the last, but Gordon Bennett and Keith Simmons
agreed with Heath, as did most of the other commanders present.
Some merely sat silent. Having gotten everyone on the record for
surrender, Percival agreed to capitulate. That evening, blinking in
the harsh glare of a Japanese cameraman’s lights, continuously
rubbing his face in a gesture of exhaustion — or did he merely
hope to rouse himself from a nightmare? — Percival was recorded
for posterity as he signed the document of surrender in the pre-
sence of a harshly gesticulating Licutenant General Tomoyuki Ya-
mashita. Singapore had fallen; the British empire had lost 138,708
men, and an era had come to an end.!

Half a world away, Singapore's last agony looked very different.
Britain was in its third year of total war, and, while American en-
try and continued Russian resistance spelled eventual victory, the
pressures on Britain and its leader were harsh and immediate.
Disaster in the Far East, setbacks in the Western Desert, the grind-
ing battle of the Atlantic, weariness at home and restiveness in
Parliament — all this was combined with the problems of dealing
with two allies, each more powerful than, and each making urgent
demands on, a Britain whose strength and resources were already
strained to the breaking point. It was enough to daunt anyone,
and it added an edge to Winston Churchill’s temper, always ready
in any case to flare at the least suggestion of faintheartedness. If
Singapore could not be saved, at least something could be salvaged,
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in Parliament and with allies, by a heroic defense. In this mood he
had minuted a discussion about the destruction of Singapore's
ammunition reserves: “The obvious course is to fire the ammu-
nition at the enemy.”* On February 10 he sent one of the harsh-
est signals he originated during the war to General Sir Archibald
Wavell, the supreme commander of the ABDA (American-British-
Dutch-Australian) Command, who was vainly trying to hold the
arc from Burma to Australia against the Japanese.

There must at this stage be no thought of saving the Lrougs
or sparing the population. The battle must be fought to the
bitter end at all costs . . . . Commanders and senior officers
should die with their troops. The honour of the British Em-
pire and the British Army is at stake. I rely on you to show no
mercy to weakness in any form. With the Russians fighting as
they ‘are and the Americans so stubborn at Luzon the whole
reputation of our country and our race is involved.?

Wavell was in Singapore, and at Flag Staff House, Percival’s offi-
cial residence, when this signal arrived. Wordlessly he read it and
handed it to the GOC. Then he went into another room and dic-
tated his own version of Churchill’s exhortation. It ended on a
loftier note: 1 look to you and to your men to fight to the end
and to prove that the fighting spirit that won our Empire still ex-
ists to defend it."* He left this note with Percival and then Te-
turned to his headquarters in Java to continue his own hopeless
task.

Singapore was past resuscitation by rhetoric. No senior officers
died at the head of their troops, although Gordon Bennett slipped
away after the capitulation, leaving his senior brigadier to lead his
men into captivity. The shame hurt Churchill worse than the loss.
"I cannot get over Singapore,” he said some months afterward to
his doctor, who commented, “I think he wondered if it were a
portent.”™  Eight years later he wrote in his war memoirs: “It may
well be that we shall never have a formal pronouncement by a
competent court qun the worst disaster and largest capitulation
of British history."™® Yet no one had seen more of the long prep-
aration for disaster in the Far East than the man who wrote those
words. The mental gulf that separated him from Percival during
Singapore’s final agony was an apt symbol of the gap that had
yawned for years between policy laid down in London and reality
in the Far East.
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Notes to Chaprer 1

1. In addition to the standard published accounts, I have drawn on several unpub-
lished sources for this description of Singapore’s last hours. The Percival Papers, a vast
but currently uncatalogued collection, and the Carter Papers arc both in the Imperial
War Muscum, Londan. Through the kindness of Professor Hugh Thomas 1 have also been
able to use Sir Shenton Thomas’s diary. This exists in two versions: an outline diary for
194145, now in the Library of Rhodes House, Oxford, and a much fuller version, in
Professor Thomas's custody, that covers December 8, 1941-February 10, 1942. The
latter Ieft Singapore with the last mail on February 11. Entries for February 11-14 were
added by Sir Shenton after the war, drawing on the outline diary referred to above and
on memory. There is an interesting discrepancy between Percival's account of his meet-
ing with the governor on February 14 and that in Sir Shenton Thomas's outline diary,
which reads, “Percival told me position no worse and therefore we would carry on."
Probably each participant recorded what struck him most forcibly. My understanding of
Singapare’s last agony has been assisted by interviews with Dr. T. C. Carter, then an RAF
Squadron Leader (November 27, 1973), and Mr. H. P. Bryson, formerly of the Malayan
Civil Service (Junc 12, 1975). Total Japanese battle casualities in the conquest of Malaya
and Singapore were less than 10,000. Stanley Falk, in Seventy Days to Singapore (New
York: G. P. Putnam’s Sons, 1975), pp. 274-75, fn 12, has argucd that the figure for total

sh losses should be revised downward, to 125,000, It makes litde difference to the
significance of the fall of Singapore.

2. Public Record Office (PRO), PREM 3, 168/5. Minute by WSC, January 31,1942,
Ironically, the magazines couid not be blown up because they were sited oo close to
the hospitals.

3. Winston S. Churchill, The Second World War, vol. 4, The Hinge of Fate (Boston:
© 1950, by Houghton Mifflin Company. Reprinted by permission of the publisher
Houghton Mifflin Company.), p. 100.

4. Wavell's note is in J. Connell, Wavell Supreme Commander 1941-1943 (London:
Collins, 1969), pp. 158-59.

5. Charles, Lord Moran, Churchill: The Struggle for Survwal 1940-1965 (Boston:
Houghtoa Mifflin, 1966), p. 29.

6. Churchill, The Hinge of Fate, p. 92.
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YEARS OF ILLUSION,1919-1940

i

On the grey and hazy afternoon of November 12, 1911, the Ad-
miralty yacht HM.S. Enchantress steamed into Portland harbor,
where the Home Fleet lay at anchor. On board was the newly
appointed First Lord of the’Admiralty, thirty-seven-year-old Win-
ston Churchill. Years later he still vividly recalled that moment:

As I saw the Fleet for the first time drawing out of the haze a
friend reminded me of “‘that far-off line of storm beaten ships
upon which the eyes of the grand Army had never looked,” but
which had in their day *“stood between Napoleon and the do-
minion of the world." In Portland harbour the yacht lay sur-
rounded by the great ships; . . . . On them, as we conceived,
floated the might, majesty, dominion and power of the Brit-
ish Empire . . .". Open the sea cocks and let them sink beneath
the surface, . . . and in a few minutes — half an hour at the most
— the whole outlook of the world would be changed. The Brit-
ish Empire would dissolve like a dream; each isolated commu-
nity struggling forward by itself; the central power of union
broken; mighty provinces, whole Empires in themselves, drifting
hopelessly out of control and falling a prey to others.!

A few months later he said the same thing, in less emotionally

charged language, in a memorandum written to stress the impor-

tance of dominion support for the Admiralty’s policy of concen-

trating the Royal Navy’s strength at the decisive point — in the

North Sea. There was some sentiment in Australia and New Zea-

land in favor of “local” navies. “The safety of New Zealand and
21
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Australia is secured by the naval power and the alliances based on
the naval power of Great Britain,” Churchill wrote. “If the power
of Great Britain were shattered upon the sea, the only course open
to the 5,000,000 of white men in the Pacific would be to seek the
protection of the United States.”?  The two Pacific dominions
were as conscious of this fact as Churchill. It bred in them the fear
that someday they would need the British Fleet, and that fleet,
tied down in European waters by a threat to the British Isles them-
selves, would not be able to succor them. The growing Japanese
navy, the source of their fears, was aligned with Britain by the
treaty made in 1902 and recently renewed. *“Quite apart from the
good sense and moderation that the Japancse have shown since
they became a civilised Power," Churchill wrote with that slightly
patronizing air that marked Western thinking about Japan until
1941, *“and quite apart from the great services mutually rendered
and advantages derived by both powers from the Alliance, there is
a strong continuing bond of self-interest. It is this that is the true
and effective protection for the safety of Australia and New Zea-
land.”®  But what if the bonds of sclf-interest frayed, or Japan
ceased to show *“good sense and moderation’? “In Australia they
feared that a situation would arise in which the Japanese alliance
had come to an end, while the danger to the United Kingdom
from Germany still prevented the Admiralty from strengthening
the British forces in the Pacific adequately,” the New Zealand
minister of defence told the Committee of Imperial Defence in
April 1913  Such fears seemed groundless in London. Five
years later they would have seemed even more so, for the defeat
of Germany and the surrender of its fleet seemed to reconfirm
British predominance at sea. It did not quite work out that way,
however. A new and more formidable antagonist had appeared —
the United States of America.

America was determined to have a navy “second to none,”
which meant a navy equal to the Royal Navy. America was in a
position to outbuild Britain, which emerged from the war vic-
torious but shaken and, financially, much weaker than the United
States. In the Washington naval treaties of 1922, the British for-
mally surrendered their long tradition of *“maritime supremacy.”
At the same time the Japancse alliance was terminated. Attenuat-
ed by Japan's growing assertiveness, it was doomed, like the Ro-
yal Navy's superiority, by American pressure — pressure echoed in
this case by the Canadians. The demise of both the Japanese al-
liance and dominance at sea destroyed the basis of British defense
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policy in the Far East. It did nothing to lessen British responsibil-
ities there, however. Australia, New Zealand, Malaya, Borneo,
Hong Kong, and the vast commercial interests built up over a cen-
tury in China — all these still had to be defended. An alliance with
America would have solved many problems, but that was not pos-
sible. Therefore the British fell back on a policy made up in equal
parts of promises and hopes. In June 1921 they decided to estab-
lish a fleet base on the north shore of Singapore Island. The stra-
tegic assumptions behind this decision were simple and superficially
logical. The defense of Britain's interests in the Far East against
Japan required the presence of a fleet. In peacetime the fleet
would normally be “centrally located,” that is, in European wa-
ters. If a threat should arise in the Far East, the Singapore base
would be ready to service and support the fleet, which would
move east to counter the threat.® “Main fleet to Singapore,” as
the strategy came to be known, was based on the rather comfor-
table assumption that when the need arose the fleet would be
free to move east, an assumption that had not passed unchallenged
when first made. The naval staff itself, in December 1920, had
pointed out that an aggressive move by Japan that coincided with
a threat to British sccurity in Europe would pose an insoluble
problem.®  Six years later an Australian officer, Licutenant Col-
onel H. D. Wynter, delivered a lecture to the United Service Insti-
tute of Melbourne in which he questioned whether Japan would
ever make any hostile move unless prior British involvement in
Europe made the dispatch of the fleet to the East impossible. The
lecture was subsequently published in the influential British mili-
tary journal Army Quarterly.” British strategy remained unalter-
ed, however, despite this obvious flaw in its logic, because there
was no alternative assumption upon which to base a defense policy
for the Far East. If the security of British interests there de-
pended on a fleet, and that flect might not be available when
needed, then those interests were indefensible. Such a ¢ ¥
however obvious in retrospect, was simply not acceptable in the
twenties. Britain was still a great power, cven if 2 weakened one,
and great powers must continue to behave as such; Europe, more-
over, wore an unusually pacific appearance. The “Locarno spirit”
reigned; Germany was still the Germany of Weimar; the British es-
trangement from ltaly and the militant expansionism of Japan
lay in the future. It was still possible to believe that the “worst
possible case” would not ever arise. The Far Eastern crisis of
1931-33, which opened with Japan’s move into Manchuria, began

——r———————
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the demolition of the assumptions upon which British defense
policy in the Far East were based. In 1935 Germany repudiated
the limitations placed upon her armaments at Versailles, while
the Abyssinian crisis of that same year estranged Britain and
Italy. In 1937 Japan began her attack on China proper, signaling
her intention to become the paramount power in East Asia. This
posed a direct threat to British interests, but, by 1937, the dis-
patch of the fleet to the East was increasingly problematic. In
May of that year, at the last Imperial Conference held prior to the
outbreak of the war, the dominions were assured categorically that
“in the Far East, the sccurity of Australia, New Zealand and In-
dia hinges on the retention of Singapore as a base for the British
fleet.” In June, however, the Committee of Imperial Defence
warned that in the event of an Anglo-French war with Germany,
“the strength of the fleet for the Far East, and the time within
which it would reach Singapore, must be variable factors, . . ."
The intervention of Italy, the Committee added, “would at once
impose conflicting demands on our fleet,” but they concluded
that “no anxieties or risks connected with our interests in the
Mediterranean can be allowed to interfere with the despatch of a
fleet to the Far East™.? The CID had pinpointed the crucial fac-
tor in the destruction of the “Singapore strategy”” — the emer-
gence of the Mediterranean as a rival focus of strategic concern.
Britain also had massive commitments there, and in the Middle
East, whose oil supplies were of vital importance. All this was
felt to be threatened by the breach with Italy in 1935. The Ad-
miralty had promptly ‘recognized the consequences of Italian
hostility for the defense of Britain's position in the Far East.!®
The focus on the Mediterrancan was increased by French con-
cern over the balance of power in the inland sea. In February
1939 the Chiefs of Staff prepared a “European Appreciation
that was really a wide-ranging survey of British strategy in the
event of a war against Germany, Italy, and Japan. From the
army and RAF point of view, the security of Egypt was given
first priority. The navy assumed that in conjunction with the
French it could hold the castern and western basins of the Med-
iterranean unless a fleet was required for the Far East, in which
case Britain might well lose naval control of the eastern Med-
iterrancan.!'  The Admiralty therefore became increasingly
cautious about the possibility of finding a fleet for the Far East.
Major General Henry Pownall, the director of military operations
and intelligence at the War Office, noted in his diary on February
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27, 1939, that “the Navy are beginning to quibble a bit over send-
ing a part of the Fleet to the Far East — saying they can’t send so
many as they thought, and that they will take 90 days to get there
instead of 70. All very well but 90 is a d - - d long time . . . it
would upset the dominions there (if they knew) . ..."'? The
Australians may not have known, but they certainly suspected.
The Commonwealth prime minister, J. A. Lyons, asked London
carly in 1939 whether the assurances given in 1937 still held good.
Replying on March 20, 1939, Neville Chamberlain redefined Bri-
tish strategy in the Far East,

In the event of war with Germany and lml’y, should Japan join

in against us it would still be his Majesty’s Government’s full

intention to despatch a fleet to Singapore. If we were fighting

aﬁams: such a combination, never envisaged in our earlier plans,

the size of the fleet would necessarily be dependent on a) the

moment when Japan entered the war and b) what loses if any

our opponents or ourselves had previously sustained.

It would however be our intention to achieve three main ob-

jects:

(1) The prevention of any major operation against Australia,
New Zealand or India

(ii) To keep open our sea communications

(iii)  To prevent the fall of Singapore.’3

This wordy caution reflected the realization in London that the
automatic dispatch of the fleet to the Far East was now out of
the question.

The date of Chamberlain’s telegram is significant. Five days be-
fore it was sent, Hitler entered Prague. This precipitated a re-
appraisal by the Chamberlain government of its foreign policy and
led to the British guarantee to Poland at the end of the month.
Overnight the British became involved in the creation of an east-
ern front against Germany, which immediately heightened the
importance of Greece and Turkey. In their “European Appreci-
ation” the Chiefs of Staff had already pointed out that a Greek
alliance was important to naval control in the eastern Mediter-
ranean, while one with Turkey could strangle Italy’s Black Sea
trade, including its vital R ian oil supplies. After Hitler's
coup on March 15, the Chiefs of Staff became even more in-
sistent on the vital nature of alliances with Greece and Turkey.
In the two-front war against Germany now envisioned, these coun-
tries would be crucial to the success of the economic blockade
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that was held to be one of Britain's most potent weapons. They
were also important to the naval control of the eastern Mediter-
ranean, while their adhesion to the Anglo-French cause would
help to encourage and sustain an anti-German Balkan block,
which might well deter Italy.'* This line of thinking quickly pro-
duced the British guarantees to Greeee (April 13) and Turkey (May
12). (Churchill's government would inherit this concern for the
castern Mediterranean from Chamberlain’s, and it would play a
decisive role in subsequent British strategy.) The guarantees to
Greece and Turkey also put the seal on the growing ascendancy of
the Mediterranean over the Far East. During the Anglo-French
staff conversations that opened in London on March 29, 1939, it
was agreed that while Singapore was “the key to the strategical
situation in the Indian Ocean, the Far East and Australasia,”
the dispatch thither of a fleet could no longer be accorded auto-
matic priority over the Mediterranean. It would be a matter of
balancing risks when the time came.!S On May 2, 1939, the Com-
mittee of Imperial Defence stated that in the event of a war with
Germany, Italy, and Japan “it is not possible to state definitely
how soon after Japanese intervention a Fleet could be despatched
to the Far East. Neither is it possible to enumerate precisely the
size of the Fleet that we could afford to send.” ¢ In June the Ad-
miralty found it possible to be more specific: two capital ships
were the most that could be spared for the Far East without pre-
judicing British interests in home waters and the Mediterrancan.! 7
An Anglo-French conference that met at Singapore that same
month expressed “‘grave concern” over their respective weaknesses
in the Far East, and suggested that if naval forces were unavailable,
air strength might be increased. In July the Committee of Im-
perial Defence raised the “period before relief” — the length of
time the Singapore garrison would have to hold out on its own —
from seventy to ninety days. In September it was raised again, to
180 days.'® When war came, nothing but the husk remained of
the Singapore strategy: the great empty naval base.

The most significant factor in the evisceration of the Singapore
strategy was, clearly, the competition between the Mediterranean
and the Far East for the second place on the list of Britain’s stra-
tegic prioritics — no one ever questioned the primacy accorded the
defense of the United Kingdom itself. From 1937 on it is plain
that the Far East was fighting an unsuccessful rearguard action.
This balancing of Mediterranean possibilities against Far Eastern
risks was inherent in Britain's post-1918 strategic dilemma — a
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global empire without the resources to match its commitments.
The idea that air power could compensate for inadequate sea
power in the Far East had its roots deep in the history of the pre-
vious twenty years. In the atmosphere of rigorous financial strin-
gency in Service estimates that set in after 1918, the idea was first
advanced in 1920 by Sir Hugh Trenchard, the chief of the air staff,
whose motivation was not merely financial economy but the
survival of the service he headed. Formed at the end of the first
World War from hitherto separate army and navy air services, the
Royal Air Force had a long and difficult struggle to maintain its
independence in the years of retrenchment that followed. “Air
control” was one of many policies Trenchard advocated (strategic
bombing was another) that would give the new service a unique
role and thus help to consolidate its position. Winston Churchill,
the colonial secretary at the time, adopted the idea as a way to cut
down the large, and politically vulnerable, bill for garrisoning Iraq.
Air control was also tried out in the Aden Protectorate and on the
Northwest Frontier of India, and Trenchard tried to take over
responsibility for the Persian Gulf and Red Sea from the Navy,
claiming that he could police those areas with RAF flying boat
squadrons. The attempt to substitute air power for the older
services led to the most spectacular interservice quarrel of the
1920, the lengthy row between Trenchard and the first sea lord,
Admiral Lord Beatty, over the defense of the Singapore naval
base. Briefly, Trenchard argued that air power was more effi-
cacious than traditional fixed defenses, and cheaper as well, since
RAF squadrons designated for Singapore could be used elsewhere
until the need arose for them in the Far East. The Navy (supported
by the Army, which would man Singapore’s heavy guns) retorted
that mobility cut both ways: the planes might be busy elsewhere
when they were wanted at Singapore. In any case, the Admiralty
never fully appreciated the vulnerability of the capital ship to air
power until it was painfully demonstrated in 1940 during the
Norwegian campaign and again in 1941 in the Mediterrancan — or
perhaps not until the loss of the Prince of Wales and the Repulse
to Japanese torpedo bombers. The fixed defenses were built, but
the RAF remained unshaken in its belief that it could defend
Singapore more effectively than the orthodox methods actually
chosen. There remained from these quarrels a legacy of tension
between the RAF and the older services which was particularly
marked in the Far East and was the cause of considerable difficulty
later. In 1936-37, as the dispatch of a flect to the Far East became
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increasingly unlikely, the Air Ministry, on the advice of the air
officer commanding, Far East, Air Commodore S.W. Smith,
decided to build a group of new airfields in eastern Malaya, It was
becoming obvious that the defense of the naval base involved
holding all of Malaya, and from existing airfields in western
Malaya the relatively short-range aircraft of the day could neither

intain adeq i over the Gulf of Siam nor mount
effective air strikes against a Japanese invasion force. It was a
perfectly reasonable decision, but unfortunately it was taken
without any consultation with the army. As a result the airbases
were very badly sited. They were hard to defend against ground
artack, while their proximity to the east coast left them vulnerable
to just such an attack. This was demonstrated when the GOC
Malaya, Major General William Dobbie, conducted exercises during
the northeast monsoon of 1936-37 (October-March) that proved
that amphibious landings on Malaya's east coast were possible
during this period, which had until then been regarded as a closed
season for such operations.!? Since there were not enough troops
available to defend anything outside Singapore Island, the question
was academic at the time. In 1941 the existence of these exposed
airbases fatally unbalanced the military dispositions in northern
Malaya.

When the Navy admitted in 1939 that it could not send a fleet
to the Far East at any time in the foresceable future, two threads
in the interwar history of the RAF came together — the desire to
play a greater role in the defense of Singapore and the practice of
offering air power as a substitute for the older services. It is no
coincidence that the air officer commanding, Far East, in June
1939 (Air Vice Marshal J. T. Babington), was a disciple of Lord
Trenchard, and strongly committed to the view thar the RAF
could and should play the prime role in the defense of Singapore
and Malaya.

Finally, it was in June 1939 that the Admiralty committed
itself to the position that two capital ships was the largest force
that could be spared for the Far East without compromising
British maritime control in the West. This calculation was made
at a time when the British were still able to assume French naval
help in the Atlantic and the Mediterrancan. The collapse of France
was to make less difference than has often been claimed to Britain’s
ability to send heavy fleet units to the Far East. From June 1939
on, two ships were all the Royal Navy could hope to spare for the
Far East, and, in the event, two is all that were ever sent.
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With the outbreak of war, the Far East inevitably became, for
London, a matter of secondary concern. The task of British diplo-
macy there became one of buying time by avoiding a rupture with
Japan while still sustaining China enough to retain American good-
will. Two Far Eastern matters, however, were of prime importance
to Chamberlain’s War Cabinet: Malaya’s dollar carnings and Anzac
manpower. Malaya in 1939 produced 38 percent of the world’s
rubber and 58 percent of its tin, and most of this rubber and tin
was exported to the United States. During 1939 Malaya sold more
to the United States than any other part of the British Empire
except Canada, its exports to the U.S. exceeding imports by
twelve million dollars a month. In September 1939 the British
government ordered the Malayan authorities to give the highest
priority to the maximum production of tin and rubber. Not only
were they essential to Britain's own war effort, but, even more
important, they were the Empire’s principle dollar earners. This
was critical, since the legacy of the British “default” in 1933 on
her World War I debts was that American supplies were available
only for hard cash. Since the beginning of serious rear in
the mid-thirties, Britain had been dependent on the United States
for certain key items, like machine tools. War was bound to
increase that dependence. This was well known in Whitehall, and
by February 1940 the War Cabinet was being warned that, at the
current rate of expenditure, gold and dollar reserves would last
two years at most. Malaya’s rubber and tin exports were therefore
vital, and no interference with them could be tolerated. British
personnel employed on the rubber estates or by the tin mines were
not allowed to leave their jobs to volunteer for the forces. This
directive, which was never altered or revoked (the 1941 target
figures called for Malaya to produce nearly double the rubber and
three times the tin it had produced in 1939), caused increasing
tension in Malaya, where the civil administration was often forced
to oppose military demands, made in the name of preparedness,
because they were likely to interfere with tin and rubber production.
Itis important to remember that the Lend-Lease agreements, while
relieving Britain’s long-term financial anxieties, at least in regard
to war supplies, still required Britain to pay for the huge orders
placed prior to the passage of the Lend-Lease Act. In fact, Britain
paid for the overwhelming majority of the goods received from the
United States until 1942. Given the criticism that has been leveled
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at the civil on and the busi ity in Malaya,
itis only fair to note that in carrying on business as, or better than,
usual, they were simply doing what London had told them to do
(even though it doubtless suited the inclinations and bank accounts
of many).?® The Malayan civil authorities, and through them the
business community, were working to one directive; the military,
to another. There was no referce for the resulting clashes except
London, and there the pressures of war made Malaya’s financial
contribution paramount and obscured the fact that two contra-
dictory sets of orders had been given to the authorities in the
Far East.

The Land Forces Committee of the War Cabinet decided on
September 8, 1939, that Britain would createa 55 division army.? !
Nearly a third of these divisions were to come from the dominions
and India, fourteen from the dominions (Australia, Canada, New
Zealand, and South Africa) and four from India. This decision was
to have considerable significance for developments in the Far East.
The Indian Army had always been the strategic reserve for the
entire British empire in the East. In 1939 that superbly profes-
sional force had only recently begun to modernize and mechanize,
and both these processes were heavily dependent on a continuing
flow of material and technical specialists from Britain, which the
war inevitably interrupted. India's prewar commitment to imperial
defense was one division, and a brigade group sailed for Malaya on
August 1, 1939, but the remaining two brigade groups and divi-
sional headquarters went to Egypt. For the next year Indian Army
units moved to the Middle East ina steady stream as soon as (and
occasionally before) they were ready for overseas service. Not
until October 1940 did another Indian Army unit land in Malaya.
With a war in the West and only the possibility of one in the East,
this could probably not have been avoided, but it meant that not
only was the cream of the Indian Army in the Middle East, but
that the whole orientation of that army became *“middle eastern”
— training, equipment, organization, and tactical doctrine. This
was compounded by India's dependence on the United Kingdom
for equipment. Whatever thought was devoted there to adapting
equipment and methods to operational conditions outside Europe
had the Middle East in view.

The use of Australasian manpower led to even greater compli-
cations. Unlike India, Australia and New Zealand were independent
(if subordinate) partners, with views of their own. This was espe-
cially true of Australia, which showed throughout a disposition
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to deal with the United Kingdom on the basis of an equality which
London, especially after Churchill became prime minister, was not
disposed to concede. As the price for the use of their troops, the
Australians did, however, exact from London a series of reassurances
that eventually put the British in a very awkward position.

To begin with, the British government advised Australia and
New Zealand not to send any troops out of the country until
Japan’s attitude was clarified. Neither dominion was in a position
to do so in any case, since they were in the process of organizing
forces that could be shipped overseas from miniscule regular cadres
and large numbers of enthusiastic volunteers. Then, in November
1939, an important meeting was held in London with represen-
tatives of the dominions. The British Chiefs of Staff produced an
appreciation of the situation in the Far East that admitted the
impossibility of concentrating a fleet at Singapore but pointed out
that if the Japanese moved, it was likely to be against Shanghai,
Hong Kong, or Indochina. “We feel that the immediate danger to
Australia and New Zealand is remote.” This judgment was rein-
forced by an opinion from Lord Lothian, the British ambassador
in Washington, who felt that America would intervene to stop any
southward move by Japan. This would hold good, Lothian felt,
cven if Japan left the Philippines alone and concentrated on
British and Dutch possessions, although, in such a case, American
involvement would come more slowly: “I think that long before
Japanese action threatened Australia’ and New Zealand, America
would be at war.” Both these assurances must have seemed rather
tenuous to the representatives of the Pacific dominions. The first
lord of the Admiralty, Winston Churchill, evidently thought so, for
he drafted a memorandum in characterictically vigorous language:

We wish to make it plain that we regard the defence of Aus-
tralia, and of Singapore, as a stepping-stone to Australia, as
ranking next to the mastering of the principal fleet to which
we arc opposed, and that if the choice were presented of
defending Australia against serious attack, or sacrificing British
interests in the Mediterranean, our duty to Australia would
take precedence. It seems very unlikely, however, that this
bleak choice will arise during the next year or two, which is
what we have to consider at the present time.??

The Cabinet, conscious of its Mediterranean commitments, recently
extended by the conclusion of a convention with Turkey, found
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this a bit too clear cur. They insisted that it had to be taken in
conjunction with both the CID paper of June 4, 1937, and Cham-
berlain's telegram of March 20, 1939, to the Australian prime

define the conditions that would certainly call for sending the
fleet east. Churchill’s memorandum was duly revised and quali-
fied, and, as icated to the domini T ives on
the afternoon of November 20, 1939, wore a very different
appearance from Churchill’s original draft. In the event of war in
the Far East,

the Admiralty would make such preparatory dispositions
as would enable them to offer timcf;' resistance either to a
serious attack on Sin, apore or the invasion of Australia or
New Zealand. These ispositions would not necessarily take
the form of stationing a fleet at Singapore, but would be of a
character to enable the necessary concentrations to be made
to the castward in ample time to prevent disaster. With our
present limited forces we cannot afford to have any important
portion of His Majesty’s Fleet idle. All ships must play their
part from day to day and there are always the hazards of war
o be faced, but the Admiralty can be trusted to make the
appropriate dispositions to meer events as they emerge from
imagination into reality 23

representative in London, R, G. Casey, as early as November 5-6
that the British Chiefs of Staff wanted one Australian division in
the Middle East as quickly as possible, to be followed by a second
to form an Australian corps there, followed suit on November
28.3% The buildup in the Middle East, the inevitable consequence

whole strategy in that area had hitherto rested — that a Japanese
threat would be met by the castward movement of the fleet — and

FT———
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edging toward a more “Mediterrancan” strategy. By November
1939 the British government would no longer promise to station
a fleet at Singapore. Timely preparations to move the fleet east-
ward to resist a “serious attack” really came down to this: the
Royal Navy would send what it could when the need arose. It has
been shown how little that was likely to be. The forebodings of
the naval staff in 1920 and of Colonel Wynter in 1926 had come
true even before the fall of France. The dominions, however, were
still clinging to the formulary pronounced*at the 1937 Imperial
Conference. It is not surprising that they did so, since they believed
that their security depended on the United Kingdom's continued
adherence to this strategic principle. But they scem to have missed
the change in hasis that & ingly dified the 1937
commitment. Chamberlain's telegram of March 1939 had placed
the prevention of an invasion of either Australia or New Zealand
first in the list of British strategic objectives in the Far East, In
November 1939 the Chiefs of Staff taiked about the unlikelihood
of a Japanese invasion of Australia and New Zealand. Churchill’s
draft memorandum for the dominions had echoed the 1937 state-
ment, but the revised version also stressed invasion, thus reflecting
the belief expressed in the Cabinet that this would call for the
dispatch of the fleet in any circumstances. A promise to protect
Australia and New Zealand from invasion, however, no longer
meant a commitment, second in importance only to the defense
of the British Isles themselves, to base a fleet at Singapore merely
to counter a Japanese threat. Even more significant was Lothian’s
opinion: * . . . long before Japanese action threatened Australia
and New Zealand, America would be at war.” Since it was im-
possible to guarantee when, or even whether, a flect could be
based on Singapore, and equally i possible to leave Australia and
New Zealand exposed to Japan (especially if their manpower were
to be drawn upon for use in the West), London had evolved a new
strategy for the Far East. Hope was still expressed that Singapore
could be adequately reinforced in the event of a *'serious attack”
by Japan, but the security of Australia and New Zealand now
rested upon the unwillingness of the United States to stand by
while Japan attacked them. The deterrent to Japan was no longer to
be a British fleet at Singapore but the United States of America, 5

Churchill’s role here is very important, since this formulation of
Far Eastern strategy would be the basis of his own policy after May
1940. In the first volume of his war memoirs he does not mention
the discussion with the dominion representatives recounted above,
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but he does set out his viewpoint in the autumn of 1939, which is
obviously based upon what he then wrote.

It did not scem possible to me that the United States could sit
passive and watch a general assault by Japan upon all European
establishments in_the Far East, even if they themsclves were not
for the moment involved. In this case we should gain far more
from the entry of the United States, perhaps only against Japan,
if that were possible, than we should suffer from the hostility
of Japan, vexatious though that would be. On no account must
nny(hinﬁ which threatened in the Far East divert us from our
prime objectives in Europe.?®

Indeed, Churchill’s views on the defensibility of Britain’s Far
Eastern interests in the conditions that existed in 1939 had really
been set down more than a quarter-century before, as noted above.
In the debate within the British government after the First World
War over the future of the Japanese alliance, Churchill had un-
cquivocally chosen America over Japan. “Mr. Churchill welcomed
the opportunity of recording his opinion that no more fatal policy
could be contemplated than basing our naval policy on a possible
combination with Japan against the United States,” he told Lloyd
George at a Committee of Imperial Defence meeting in December
1920.27 1t was a position he neither altered nor regretted. Thirty
years later, looking back on it, Churchill wrote: “It was with
sorrow that in 1920 I became a party to the ending of our alliance
with Japan from which we had derived both strength and advantage.
But as we had to choose between Japanese and American friend-
ship I had no doubts what our course should be.”*® As one
trenchant analysis of the events of 1918-22 puts it, “‘the British
government was in fact replacing a formal alliance with Japan by
a mere understanding with the United States, and assuming that
the latter’s interests would be served by defending the security of
the Pacific dominions, and Britain's own territorial and commercial
interests in the Far East . . .. The risks inherent in this decision
were obvious.”??  So were the implications, and Churchill was
obviously aware of them. Despite lip service to the importance
of holding Singapore, it was clear as early as June 1939 that the
Admiralty could not spare more than two capital ships for the
Far East, as against the ﬁgur: of nine that was the minimum it
believed to be necessary.*®  Thus the security not only of Aus-
tralia and New Zealand but of Singapore itself [ay in the presumed
reluctance of the United States to countenance the southward ex-
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pansion of Japan. Without prevision of Pearl Harbor, this policy
made considerable sense in the circumstances. It is clear both that
the policy took shape under the pressure of events before Churchill
returned to office, and that it harmonized with his own inclinations.
Even before the fall of France, he was committed to a holding
action in the East and to reliance on the American deterrent to
Japan. It is, however, questionable whether all this was made clear
to Australia and New Zealand. Morcover there is in the document
c icated to the domini p atives in N ber 1939
a note of exasperation, which is echoed in Churchill's memoirs,
and was doubtless elicited by Australian questioning. This, too,
prefigured the future, for London was never to find quite the right
touch in dealing with Australia. To the British, Singapore was “the
Far East” — to Australians it was the “Near North,”

iii

In January 1940 the first contingents of Australian and New
Zealand troops sailed for the Middle East. In the same month Sir
Shenton Thomas, the governor of the Straits Settlements (whose
most important component was Singapore), asked London to
reinforce the RAF in Malaya to compensate for the missing fleet.
On March 13 Air Vice Marshal Babington followed this up with
a memorandum to the Air Ministry making the same arguments.
The Air Ministry replied that they had nothing to spare for Malaya,
but pointed out that growing RAF strength in Egypt and India
formed a reserve that could be drawn upon for Malaya if the need
arose. This was their standard position about the mobility of air
power that had first been put forward during the argument over
aircraft versus fixed defenses in the mid-twenties. It had the same
basic flaw as the Navy's strategy for Singapore: what would happen
if, when the need for them arose, the aircraft were committed
elsewhere? The following month the Overseas Defence Committee
of the War Cabinet sent the governor his answer: there were no
forces to spare for areas not immediately threatened. This dispatch
also reiterated that Malaya's prime duty was to produce as much
rubber and tin as possible. Malaya was not silenced, however. On
April 13, 1940, Major General Lionel Bond, the GOC Malaya,
sent London an appreciation of the problem of defending Singa-
pore. He noted that Thomas, Babington, and the local naval
commander (who bore the title rear admiral, Malaya) were all in
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ag) with him. Singapore was expected to hold out for six
months, the GOC pointed out, but the Japanese could easily
assemble an expeditionary force in south China within striking
distance of Singapore. They could just as casily seize airbases in
Thailand or Indochina to cover such an attack. To hold Singapore,
it was necessary to hold all of Malaya, for that was the only way
to prevent Japanese aircraft rendering the naval base untenable. To
do this, however, massive reinforcements would be necessary:
three divisions, two tank battalions, two machine gun battalions,
and a pool of reinforcements amounting to at least 20 percent of
the force (to compensate for the length of time it would take for
men put into the pipeline in the United Kingdom to emerge at
Singapore). If it was decided in addition to forestall a Japanese
descent on southern Thailand, where they could scize airfields to
cover an attack on Malaya, at least two more divisions would be
necessary.? ! At the time that this memorandum was written, the
troops available in Malaya (excluding the garrisons of Singapore
and Penang Island) amounted to the three battalions of the
Twelfth Indian Infantry Brigade. There were only ten divisions
and two tank battalions with the British Expeditionary Force in
France. Bond's appreciation was the first detailed study of exactly
what it would cost to secure the naval base without a fleet, even
though it had been realized since 1937 that its defense involved
holding all Malaya. The GOC's assessment was considered in
London on May 16 — the day Britain's new prime minister,
Winston Churchill, flew to Paris for a fateful meeting.
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3
INSOLUBLE PROBLEM:
May-June 1940

Wednesday, May 15, 1940, the fifth day of Winston Churchill’s
premiership, did not begin well. At 7:30 a.m. he was awakened to
take a call from Paul Reynaud, the French premicr. Reynaud
“spoke in English, and evidently under stress. ‘We have been de-
feated.” " Churchill, perhaps not yet fully awake, or perhaps
thoroughly startled, did not immediately respond, and Reynaud
repeated, “we are beaten; we have lost the battle.”" Churchill
tried to be optimistic about containing the German breakthrough,
but “the French Premier came back to the sentence with which
he had begun, which proved indeed only too truc: ‘We are defeated;
we have lost the battle." I said I was willing to come over and have
a talk.”" Three hours later Churchill met his War Cabinet. There
was a discussion of how best to sustain the French. The War
Cabinet decided that it could not send to France more RAF
fighter squadrons, a measure the French were urgently demanding,
but did authorize the bombing of targets east of the Rhine, a
policy about which the French were indifferent. Churchill left the
meeting with authority to draft a letter to Franklin Roosevelt, 1
which he did in the course of the afternoon, his first letter as s}
“Former Naval Person.” After warning the president of the conse-
quences of a German victory — “You may have a completely sub- !
jugated, Nazified Europe established with astonishing swiftness, il
and the weight may be more than we can bear” — he presented the

president with a list of immediate needs: destroyers, aircraft, and

antiaircraft guns and ammunition. And, finally, “I am looking to

you to keep the Japanese quiet in the Pacific, using Singapore in

39
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any way c ient.”? That d up the policy that
had been taking shape in London since early 1939, and which
Churchill was to follow i ly for the next eigh months,

for he knew that a French collapse would finally undermine the
already shaky assumptions upon which the defense of Britain’s
vast Eastern empire rested.

The next afternoon, while General Bond’s appreciation was
being considered in London, Churchill flew to Paris and met with
Reynaud and General Maurice Gamelin, the French — and Allied —
Commander-in-Chief. That meeting, held in a ground-floor room
at the Quai d'Orsay, has been described by Churchill in one of the
most vivid passages in his war memoirs. He discovered the dimen-
sions of the German breakthrough, the complete lack of any
reserve in the hands of the French High Command and, most
significant, he sensed the atmosphere of despair and disintegration
that was rapidly paralyzing France.> He flew back to London the
next day and promptly created a War Cabinet subcommittee,
presided over by Neville Chamberlain (now lord president of the
council), to consider the questions that would arise if France
collapsed, and the associated problem of withdrawing the British
Expeditionary Force from France. It was apparently on this day
that Churchill asked the Chiefs of Staff for a report on “British
strategy in a certain cventuality,” that is, the fall of France.*
Roosevelt's answer to Churchill's appeal was received on the follow-
ing day (May 18). Its tone was friendly, but the president could
not give any specific promises. On this same day a reply to Bond's
appreciation went off to Singapore. Note was taken of his request
for a larger garrison, the GOC was told, but in the prevailing circum-
stances no reinforcements could be sent. The Chiefs of Staff were
reviewing urgently the whole question of Far Eastern defense, he
was assured. In this same dispatch the importance of Malaya’s
rubber and tin was once again underlined.$

On Sunday, May 19, the Chiefs of Staff produced the first draft
of the paper that Churchill had called for upon his return from
France. It predicted that in the Far East Japan would follow an
opportunist policy, “but with a watchful eye on the United States
of America."” The Chiefs of Staff pointed out Singapore’s economic
importance and the need for adequate air and naval forces to
defend it. Then they wrote the epitaph of the twenty-year-old
Singapore strategy.

What forces we can send can only be judged in the light of
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the situation at the time. It is most improbable that we can
send any naval forces to the Far East, Tgcre(ore we must rely
on the United States of America to safeguard our interests in
the Far East.

With Bond’s request in mind, they added, “Australia should be
asked to consider a reinforcement of the garrison at Singapore.”
The War Cabinct approved the final version of this paper on May
27, the day after they had authorized the beginning of the Dunkirk
evacuation. The next two weeks, during which the “miracle of
Dunkirk” took place, closely followed by the opening of the
second phase of the battle of France, the departure of the French
government from Paris, and the entry of Italy into the war, left
little time to spare for anything but immediate concerns. Not
until mid-June were the problems of the Far East again seriously
considered.

From the time Churchill sent his first message to Roosevelt on
May 15, he waged a persistent campaign to secure from the United
States as large as possible a measure of support. His principal bar-
gaining counter, skillfully played over the next few months, was
the American fear that the British flect would pass into German
control if Britain fell. The Far East played an important part in
Churchill’s design, for the British did not want to be distracted
from the immediate problems of survival by any Japanese moves
there. On June 13, 1940, the Chiefs of Staff drafted a memorandum
to guide Lord Lothian in his talks with Roosevelt, which put the
matter even more bluntly than their paper on May 19: * . . . we
see no hope of being able to despatch a fleet to Singapore. It will
therefore be vital that the United States of America should publicly
declare her intention to regard any alteration in the status quo in
the Far East as a casus belli.”” Even though this paper was not
formally approved by the War Cabinet for four more days, its
substance was communicated immediately to the Pacific dominions,
to whom it came as something of a jolt to be told bluntly that the
basis of British strategy in the Far East — and with it their security
— had dissolved.® The War Cabinet, when it finally approved this
paper, also had before it a warning from the Chiefs of Staff that
French Indochina was now defenseless and that a Japanese occu-
pation of it would directly threaten Singapore.” How much real
attention the War Cabinet was able to pay to any of this is doubt-
ful. These were the days of the French agony, of Churchill’s last
visits to France, of the stillborn proposals for an Anglo-French
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union, and of the desp attempts to p de the French to
remain in some way in the war. Probably more significant in the
long run than these restatements of what had become obvious was
a brief debate on the future of the British position in the Mediter-
ranean.

In mid-June the Chiefs of Staff, surveying the host of troubles
pressing upon them, suggested that preparations ought to be made
for evacuating the Mediterrancan. The fleet could retire through
the Suez Canal to Aden, and the Canal could then be blocked, On
June 17, the day Reynaud fell (to be replaced by Petain), the
naval staff suggested that, in order to retain the control of
the Atlantic, which was absolutely vital, the Mediterranean fleet
ought to be moved from Alexandria to Gibraltar. The first sea
lord, Admiral Sir Dudley Pound, telegraphed the suggestion to
the commander in chief, Mediterrancan, Admiral Sir Andrew
Cunningham, the same day. Cunningham immediately replied that
it could be done, but only at the cost of losing Egypt and Malta,
The prime minister's reaction was equally prompr.

It is of the utmost importance that the fleet ar Alexandria
should remain to cover Egypt from an ltalian invasion which
would otherwise destro prematurely all our position in the
East. This fleet is well p{wcd 1o sustain our interests in Turkey,
to guard Egyptand the Canal, . . .

Cunningham sent a sccond cable the following day, June 18, to
drive home his point. To withdraw the fleet would lead to a
“landslide in territory and prestige.”” The Joint Planning Sub-
Committee, to whom the Chicfs of Staff had referred the Admir-
alty suggestion, reported that the arguments for retaining the
fleet in the Eastern Mediterrancan outweighed “‘the purely
naval reasons for its withdrawal.” On the 18th the Chicfs of Staff
deferred consideration of the matter, and it was never heard of
again. On July 3 the commanders in chief in the Middle East,
as well as India and the dominions, were told that the Middle East
would be held as long as possible. 'Y Since the decision to keep the
fleet in the Mediterrancan meant the loss of the last opportunity
to free naval resources for an Eastern fleet, it is worth examining
why it was taken and how real the alternative possibility was.

It has been argued that the decision to hold the Mediterrancan
was pure Churchill, and was largely dictated by pugnacity and
emotion. Michael Howard has given this position the support of
his great authority.
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Churchill . . . knew little of the Far East; he had been hostile to
the building of the Singapore base; and he may well have felt
that in this part of the world British power could never be
cffective without American support. But he had served with
Kitchener in Egypt; he had been one of the architects — indeed
he had some claim to be the principal architect — of Britain’s
Empire in the Middle East after the First World War. This for
him was, after India, the very heartland of the British Empire,
worth retaining for its own sake irrespective of its significance
in the conduct of the war. The generals who failed to defend it
earned his malevolence; those who succeeded, his extravagant
affection.'! Perpu .- iuud Negarm

ysia

This is more colorful than accurate. The Mediterranean was be-
coming a major concern in British strategy long before Churchill
returned to office. Furthermore, the telegram to the commanders
in chief in the Middle East gave two sound reasons for the decision
to hold on there as long as possible. First, the abandonment of the
Middle East would drive an immense hole into the economic
blockade that, as the Chiefs of Staff had pointed out to the War
Cabinet on May 27, was one of Britain’s few remaining weapons.
Second, the area's vital oil resources had to be denied to the Axis.
(The British consistently overrated Germany’s oil supply diffi-
culties in the early years of the war.) It was equally important to
keep Middle Eastern oil flowing to Great Britain. Just how impor-
tant this last consideration was can be seen from a report by the
Oil Control Board to the War Cabinet in July 1942, a time when
the loss of the Middle East again appeared imminent. The loss of
the Abadan and Bahrein oil fields would mean, the Board stated,
that an additional 270 tankers would have to be found to carry
13,146,000 tons of oil from the USA.

The cuts required to free this amount of tanker tonnage are im-
practicable and the Oil Control Board conclude that the loss of
Abadan and Bahrein would be calamitous inasmuch as it would
force a drastic reduction in our total war capacity and fmbnbly
abandonment of some of our present fields of action.!

There were also important considerations of morale. The Middle
East was the only place where Britain could meet cither of the
Axis powers on land. To abandon the Middle East immediately
after their expulsion from Europe might have discouraged the
British public and the flickering anti-Nazi forces in Europe. The
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willingness of the United States to assist Britain might well have
been affected by what would have seemed a further demonstration
of Axis irresistibility, and, as he showed when he ordered the attack
on the French fleet early in July, Churchill was willing to go to
very considerable lengths to convince everyone, especially the
Americans, that the British would fight on. Finally there was the
hope of rallying the Balkan states and Turkey as barriers to the
southeastward expansion of Germany. This was another policy
inherited, as has been seen, from the Chamberlain government, but
it is one that Churchill certainly made very much his own. Taking
all these things together, there were solid reasons for the policy
that Churchill and his War Cabinet adopted. As Cunningham wrote
after the war, “I do not know how near we came to abandoning
the Eastern Mediterrancan; but if it had come to pass it would have
been a major disaster, no less.” ?

The calamitous month of June closed with disappointments in
both the eastern Mediterrancan and the courtship of the United
States. Turkey prudently declared herself neutral on the 26th. On
the same day Lord Halifax, the foreign secretary, told the War
Cabinet that “The United States of America had declined to make
any declaration about their policy in the Far East and little could
be expected from them.”'* In’the lull between the end of the
Battle of France and the beginning of the Battle of Britain, the
British government had, therefore, to work out a new approach
to the defense of the Far East that took into account not only
British obligations there but current preoccupations in the Atlantic
and Mediterranean, which prevented any fulfillment of those
obligations. Disappointed in the hope that the United States would
extend a protective shicld to cover Britain's Eastern dependencies,
the British government had to fall back on makeshift and bluff.
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4
PAPER SOLUTION:
July-October 1940

i

On a summer evening in 1940 there was a dinner party at King's
House, the official residence of the British high commissioner in
Kuala Lumpur, the capital of the Federated Malay States. After-
ward Stanley Jones, the colonial secretary of the Straits Settlements
and currently “Officer Administering Government” (i.c., acting
governor and high commissioner) during Sir Shenton Thomas’s
absence on leave, sat talking with Mr. and Mrs. W. L. Blythe. Blythe
and Jones were old friends and had served together in the Malay
state of Johore years before. Jones enquired after the Blythe's
thirteen-year-old daughter, who was at school in England. They
were hoping to get her out to Malaya, the Blytnes told him, in
view of the grim situation in Europe. Shocked, Jones told them
that they must not bring her out East. It was more likely that
women and children would have to be sent away from Malaya for
safety than it was that it would become a safe refuge from the
perils of the European war. Recalling the episode years later Blythe
wrote, “this, I think, was the first time that the real seriousness of
the situation struck us, but this was not general knowledge, and
Government, very rightly did not issue warnings of this sort to the
public lest it should create alarm and despondency.”!  While the
government in Malaya put on a brave front, mindful of the repeated
exhortations from London to get out the rubber and tin, its masters
in London were desperately trying to improvise some protection
against the looming danger about which Jones warned his friends.

46
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The summer of 1940 was unprecedented even in Britain’s long
history of standing alone against dominant continental powers.
The Chiefs of Staff, in their paper on the future of British strategy
that the War Cabinet approved on May 27, had pointed to the
trinity of bombing, blockade, and subversion as the only available
British response to a German-dominated Europe. Above all there
was the problem of immediate survival. Amid all these pressures it
says a great deal for the central machinery in Whitchall that it was
able to produce a new strategy for the Far East — and it is notvery
surprising that it was far from flawless.

The Chiefs of Staff had suggested in May that the need for
additional ground forces in Malaya could be partly met by asking
Australia to send a division there. On Junc 25 they raised this point
again. The Australians refused on July 3. Given the strategic revo-
lution that had taken place, and the rather shattering British mess-
age of June 13, Australia and New Zealand wanted a full-scale re-
view of Far Eastern strategy before they made any further commit-
ments. The whole Far Eastern situation was making the Chiefs of
Staff rather uneasy.

We are extremely apprehensive of the trend of events in the Far
East. ... We are not in a position to send a flect there in the
present circumstances . . . . If we adopt a policy in the Far East
that may lead us to war with Japan, having at the same time in-
formed our Dominions that we are unable to render the assistance
that we promised them, it seems to us unlikely that Australia
and New Zealand will release any further forces for service
overseas.

To sum up we feel that on military grounds we must avoid
war with Japan.?

Inability to fulfill past pledges and the decision to fight in the
Middle East alike pointed to keeping the temperature down in
the Far East. The decision to bow to the Japanese demand for the
closure of the Burma Road, which the Cabinet took on July 10,
and the withdrawal of the remaining two battalions of British
troops from China later in the summer both reflect this necessity.
Meanwhile the Chiefs of Staff found themselves confronted with
yet another eastern problem: the defense of the oil-rich Nether-
lands East Indies. The Dutch royal family and government had
taken refuge in Britain on May 13, 1940. On the preceding day the
British had sent troops to secure the small Dutch West Indian
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island of Curacao and its valuable refineries. The Japanese govern-
ment had promptly indicated that it did not want a precedent
applicable to the East Indies established, and the British readily
gave the necessary assurances. The Dutch realized, however, that
if Japan moved south they would be involved, Indeed, they would
in many respects be the principal target, and they wanted to be
sure of British support.

““Far Eastern Policy: Report by the Chiefs of Staff” came before
the War Cabinet on July 29. There was no casy solution — in fact
no British solution at all — to the problem of defending the
European position in the Far East against Japan, and the Chiefs
of Staff, deeply divided over what to do, pushed the final decision
onto the Cabinet. “We are all agreed that, committed as we are in
Europe and the Middle East, we must do everything short of sacri-
ficing our vital interests to avoid an open clash with Japan."”* But
were the Netherlands East Indies a vital interest? All the Chiefs of
Staff agreed that, if the United States would promise to come in in
the event of a Japanese attack, aid should certainly be given to the
Dutch. Sir Dudley Pound, however, held out against coming to the
assistance of the Dutch if Britain found herself facing Japan alone.
This provoked a discussion in which Pound found himself isolated.
The dominions secretary, Lord Caldecote, who had the responsi-
bility for relations with Australia and New Zealand, “said that cer-
tain important convoys were shortly due to leave Australia. He
thought that Australia and New Zealand would only be prepared
to agree to the convoys sailing if they knew we had reached a
decision to resist aggression in the Dutch East Indies.”™  This
made the connection between dominion fears, defense of the
Netherlands East Indies, and the buildup in the Middle East only
too clear. Churchill's contribution was relatively noncommittal.
“If the need arose we might have to withdraw our Fleet from the
Mediterranean in order to station an adequate fleet at Singapore.
. .. The final decision taken would, of course, take account of
the means at our disposal to resist such aggression.”* An undated
minute by the prime minister attached to the Cabinet minutes at
this point, however, reflects some impatience with the whole dis-
cussion, for reasons that Churchill would soon make plain. In the
meantime the Chiefs of Staff were invited to finish up their Far
Eastern appreciation and to prepare another paper on the assump-
tion that Japan attacked the Dutch and Britain went to their aid.
The Far Eastern appreciation was circulated on August 5, with a
covering note from Sir Edward Bridges, the Secretary to the War
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Cabinet, calling attention to the fact that Australia and New Zea-
land “*are becoming somewhat restive and are reluctant to despatch
further troops until they have received the military appreciation of
the situation in the Far East.” It was notonly the Pacific dominions
who wanted clarification about London’s plans for the defense of
the Far East. Sir Shenton Thomas, on leave in England, had be-
come aware of the belief — or hope — that Japan would not
attack Malaya. In July he had written to the Colonial Office point-
ing out that this belief was no substitute for a clear policy:

I submit that it is necessary to decide now what action should
be taken in the event of war with Japan. Apparently naval re-
inforcements are not possible . . ."and in the absence of the
Navy the RAF is the only source of belp . . . 1 know that it will
be said that sufficicnt forces of the RAF cannot be spared
today. 1f, then, Malaya should be attacked by Japan within
(say) the next two months, is the territory and Singapore to be
left to its fate? If so, let us be told and we will do the best we
can; but if not let a decision be taken at once as to the size
and nature of the relieving air force and let all preparations for
receiving it and enabling it to function with the maximum
efficiency be put in hand now.

On August 1, 1940, he had repeated his arguments to the members
of the Joint Planning Staff, Obviously it was important to provide
some answers to all these questions.® On August 7 the Chiefs of
Staff completed their paper on the Netherlands East Indies.” The
following day the whole matter came again before the War Cabinet,
These two papers, the decisions taken on them, and the fate of
those decisions, are crucial to the story of the British collapse in
the Far East and therefore must be considered in some detail.

In the new situation produced by the fall of France, the Chiefs
of Staff pointed out that it was necessary to hold all of Malaya
(in fact, as has been shown, this had become evident as carly as
1936-37). Since a fleet was not available, the main burden of the
defense would have to fall on the RAF. The minimum air strength
necessary for the security of Malaya, Singapore, and British trade
in the Indian Ocean was calculated to be 22 squadrons with 336
first-line aircraft. (The total aircraft requirement was actually
much higher, since the first line or Initial Establishment [IE] of a
squadron was backed by an Immediate Reserve [IR], usually cal-
culated as 50 percent of the IE. The total would therefore be 336
plus 168, or 504 aircraft.) The total currently in the Far East was
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cight squadrons with 88 aircraft, all museum pieces. The Chicfs of
Staff held out no hope of being able to do more in 1940 than re-
equip the squadrons in Malaya with modern aircraft and add four
more from the United Kingdom. Two of the latter would be fighter
squadrons, since there were currently no fighters at all in the Far
East. The balance they hoped to make up in 1941. When the RAF
reached the prescribed level, a garrison of six brigades (the equiva-
lent of two divisions) would suffice for Malaya, In the meantime,
however, a much larger garrison was needed, not least, although
the Chiefs of Staff refrained from saying so, to protectall the air-
ficlds that the RAF had been building until such time as adequate
air strength made them assets rather than liabilities. Bond's estimate
of three divisions plus attached troops was accepted, but the
Chiefs of Staff hastily added that they could not provide even one
division from the United Kingdom, where the army, slowly re-
cquipping after Dunkirk, was bracing itself to meet invasion.
The Middle East could not be drawn upon, and India’s growing
army was mortgaged to the Middle East. Thus, all that they could
suggest was that Australia be asked again for a division, and the
authorities in Malaya be instructed to prepare for a second division,
if one could be found.®

The decision to entrust the defense of Malaya to air power was
inevitable under the circumstances. It was the RAF or nothing.
But was there any more reality to the new strategy than to the one
it replaced? In August 1940 the immediate concern of both the
Air Ministry and the Ministry of Aircraft Production under Lord
Beaverbrook was the production of fighter aircraft for home
defense. In the long run the creation of a great bomber force was
the central aim of the Air Staff. The Middle East, where active
operations had been underway for several months, was making
steadily growing demands on the RAF. The likelihood of the Far
East reaching its target figure for aircraft was thus only marginally
greater than of its getting naval reinforcements. Furthermore, by
accepting the theory that air power could replace sca power, the
new policy automatically made the protection of RAF airfields
the primary duty of the army, despite the fact that the Chiefs of
Staff could not promise more than a third of the forces the GOC
considered minimally necessary to hold all Malaya, and even that
little was contingent on the willingness of the Australian govern-
ment to find a division for Malaya. The appreciation was far more
an expression of hope than a statement of realistic policy. But,
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with massive commitments and inadequate resources, it is hard to
see how it could have been otherwise.

The paper on the defense of the Netherlands East Indies did not
even exude hope. The Chiefs of Staff were opposed to giving the
Dutch a binding commitment without an assurance of American
support, because the British simply did not have the resources to
fulfill any such undertaking. (In fact, at this date the Dutch, with
144 aircraft in the East Indies, were stronger in the air than the
British.) The crux of the problem was Britain's naval weakness,
and here it is obvious that Pound had carried the day. “A simul-
tancous attack on Malaya and the Netherlands East Indies is not a
likely contingency,” the paper began optimistically, but added
that * ... any attempt to produce an adequate naval concentration
at Singapore in the present world situation would be unsound. The
most that we could do . . . would be to send one battlecruiser and
one aircraft carrier to the Indian Ocean to be based at Ceylon for
the Purpose of protecting our vital communications and those
round the Cape to the Middle East.” Even this, the paper added,
would only work if Japan was “‘unenterprising.” There were not
enough cruisers and destroyers available to form a balanced Eastern
fleet, even if the capital ships could somehow be found. (In the
month of July German submarines had sunk 56 ships, and commerce
raiders, 11 more — the cruisers and destroyers were desperately
needed on the trade routes, as well as in home waters where in-
vasion loomed.) To drive the point home an appendix entitled
“Possibility of concentrating Further Naval Forces in the Far East”
spelled out the cost of an Eastern fleet: “To produce a fleet for
the Far East . . . it would be necessary to abandon both the
Eastern Mediterrancan and Gibralter and, further, to take one
battleship from Home Waters and both from Atlantic convoy
work." The conclusion was obvious and blunt: ** ..., in the situation
today we cannot produce a fleet capable of dealing with the
Japanese in the Far East."”

Not very surprisingly, Caldecote thought that the two papers put
up by the Chiefs of Staff would be very discouraging to Australia
and New Zealand. Churchill at this point read the Cabinet a draft
telegram to the dominions, which, he said, “would inspire them
with 2 much greater degree of confidence.” It was a general survey
of the war, and included this: “If a full scale invasion of cither
Australia or New Zcaland was threatened the situation could be
retrieved by the intervention of the United States. Indeed, if the
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United States had previously made it clear that they would not
tolerate the invasion of Australia or New Zealand, the Japanese
would never take the plunge.”'® It was clear that, short of a full-
scale invasion of the Pacific dominions, Churchill had no intention
of abandoning the Eastern Mediterranean.

Even though the War Cabinet did not formally approve the Far
Eastern appreciation until August 28, it became the basis for
further planning immediately. Similarly, the paper on aid to the
Dutch had the effect for which Pound had hoped: no guarantee
was given. A year would go by before the question of building up
an Eastern fleet was reopened in London. The whole discussion
also drove home exactly how dependent Britain was on American
sea power to restrain Japan. Interestingly, it assumed that, in any
Anglo-American war against Japan, the United States Fleet would
be based on Manila and Singapore, especially the latter, as it was
deemed more secure from air attack. The possibility that the
Japanese would neutralize the American fleet, much less make
Manila and Singapore diately ble, obviously occurred
to no one. Nor, without the benefit of hindsight, is there any reason
to assume that it should have.

Churchill sent his telegram to Robert Menzies and Peter Fraser,
the prime ministers of Australia and New Zealand, on August 11,
1940. “We are trying our best to avoid war with Japan,” he wrote,
but

Should Japan nevertheless declare war on us, her first objective
outside the Yellow Sea would probably be the Dutch East
Indics. Evidently the United States would not like this. What
they would do”we cannot tell. They give no undertaking of
support, but their main fleet in the Pacific must be a grave
preoccupation to the Japanese Admiralty. In this first phase
of an Anglo-Japanese war we should, of course, defend Singa-
pore, which if attacked — which is unlikely — ought to stand
a long siege. We should also be able to base on Ceylon a battle
cruiser and a fast aircraft-carrier, which . .. would act as avery
Eowcrful deterrent upon the hostile raiding cruisers. The

astern Mediterranean Fleet . . . could, of course, at any time
be sent through the Canal into the Indian Ocean, or to relieve
Singapore. We do not want to do this, even if Japan declares
war, until it is found to be vital to your safety. Such a trans-
ference would entail the complete loss of the Middle East, and
all prospect of beating Italy in the Mediterranean would be
gome ... We hope, .. . to keep the Eastern Mediterranean Fleet
at Alexandria during the first phase of an Anglo-Japanese
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war, . . . If however . . . Japan set about invading Australia or
New Zealand on a large scale, I have the explicit authority of
the Cabinet to assurcg'cu that we should then cut our losses in
the Mediterranean and sacrifice every interest, except only the
defence and feeding of this island, on which all depends, and
would proceed in good time to your aid with a fleet,! !

This is a fair summary of the discussions in London and is certainly
straightforward about the primacy accorded the Middle East.
Churchill’s reliance on the United States is not, however, as obvious
in this telegram as it was in the draft read to the War Cabinet. Nor
are there any of the assurances that Caldecote thought the domin-
ions would want about aid to the Dutch. It is absolutely clear,
however, on one point: the dispatch of a fleet to Singapore was
no longer an automatic response to a Japanese entry into the war,
but a last-resort action to counter a large-scale Japanese invasion
of Australia or New Zealand. Singapore would still be defended —
but by an air force that would not reach the necessary size for at
least eighteen months and a garrison that would only be a third of
the required force if Australia itself sent a division. What if Japan
moved before all these deficiencies could be made up? Morcover,
in the back of the most important mind in London lay the hope
that even the attenuated assurances given in August 1940 would
never have to be made good by the British, since America would
prevent any hostile move by Japan. It is questionable just how
clearly the Australian government realized the extent to which
circumstances had reduced British policy in the Far East to an
exercise in hoping for the best.

Nothing in the course of Anglo-American relations during the
summer of 1940 gave much concrete support to the idea that
America would contain Japan so that Britain could wage war in
the West undistracted. A British suggestion in mid-June that the
United States announce its determination to support the status quo
in the Far East met, as has been seen, with no response. When
the Japanese demanded the closure of the Burma Road, Lothian
was instructed to tell Cordell Hull, Roosevelt's secretary of state,
that Britain could not refuse without assurances of American
support. Hull could give none, but this did not prevent him from
denouncing the three month suspension of traffic on the road as
an unwarranted obstacle to world trade.'? Roosevelt told Lothian
in June that he was agrecable to secret air and naval staff talks,
and on July 4 the ambassador informed London that the president
had approved technical naval discussions in London. But when the
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three-man American mission, thinly disguised as a “Standardisation
of Arms Committee,” arrived in August, it was quickly made clear
to the British that they were “obscrvers” only, with no authority
to commit the United States. In fact, their real duty was to report
to Roosevelt on the likelihood of British survival.' During these
months the United States drove a very hard bargain in the famous
destroyers-bases deal, trying to extract a commitment that the
British fleet would not be involved in any British collapse. This
Churchill would not give — could not, in fact. Nevertheless, the
prime minister was well content with the results of the summer's
negotiations. He knew that British survival, and hopes for victory,
depended on American support and, ultimately, American inter-
vention. Thus he was well content to involve the United States by
trading valuable bases for antique destroyers. As he later put it:
“it was the first of a long succession of increasingly unneutral
acts ... ."'"* Nevertheless, none of this provided much comfort
about the Far East; neither did the results of attempts to enlist
American backing when it was time to consider the reopening of
the Burma Road. Late in August the American observers in London
were given a copy of the Chiefs’ of Staff Far Eastern appreciation.'*
There should have been no illusions in Washington thereafter about
Britain’s nakedness against Japan. In early September the War
Cabinet discussed asking the United States to send a cruiser
squadron on a ceremonial visit to Singapore as a friendly gesture
when the British reopened the Burma Road. In mid-September
Hull told Lothian that the United States hoped that the Burma
Road would be reopened, but on the 30th he was unable to give
any assurances of support if the result for Britain was war with
Japan. The secretary of state did suggest technical staff talks
(i.e, no political commitments would be involved), with Dutch
and Australian representatives also present. The War Cabinet, per-
haps bering the fateful quences of the Anglo-French
staff talks prior to 1914, leaped at the proposal. On October 3 it
decided to reopen the Burma Road. The next day Churchill wrote
Roosevelt announcing the decision and suggesting that an American
naval visit to Singapore could be made the occasion for talks on
the defense of the Far East, which the Dutch might join. On the
ninth, however, the day after the reopening of the Burma Road had
been announced by the prime minister in the House of Commons,
Lothian reported that Hull had turned very cautious, and now felt
unable to agree to anything but an exchange of naval information
through Rear Admiral R. L. Ghormley, one of the American ob-
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servers in London.'®  Undeterred, Churchill minuted to Eden the
following day that nothing could “compare to the importance of
the British Empire and the United States being co-belligerents . . . .
if Japan attacked the United States without declaring war on us,
we should at once range ourselves at the side of the United States
and declare war on Japan.™'? The real danger, of course, was that
Japan would do exactly the opposite. Lothian went wearily back
to Hull with the suggestion that, after a preliminary exchange of
information in London, “unobtrusive” staff talks should take
place in Washington; but the British could have had no h